

DORSET COUNCIL - EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON WEDNESDAY 30 OCTOBER 2019

Present: Cllrs Toni Coombs (Chairman), Shane Bartlett (Vice-Chairman), Alex Brenton, Cherry Brooks, Robin Cook, Mike Dyer, Beryl Ezzard, Barry Goringe, David Morgan, Bill Trite and John Worth

Apologies: Cllrs David Tooke

Local Ward Members: For Lytchett Matravers and Upton – Councillors Bill Pipe and Andrew Starr

Officers present (for all or part of the meeting):

Lara Altree (Legal Services Manager), Anna Lee (Planning Policy Manager), Ellie Lee (Planning Officer), Lexi Dones (Senior Planning Officer), Colin Graham (Engineer) and David Northover (Senior Democratic Services Officer).

Public speaking – all in respect of minute 39. Robin SeQueira, on behalf of St Dunstan's Church June Richards, Lytchett Minster and Upton Town Council Scott Masker, for applicant

35. Apologies

An apology for absence was received from Councillor David Tooke.

36. **Declarations of Interest**

No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made at the meeting.

37. Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 25 September 2019 were confirmed and signed.

38. **Public Participation**

Representations by the public to the Committee on individual planning applications are detailed below. There were no questions, petitions or deputations received on other items on this occasion.

39. 6/2019/0401 - Development at 4 Poole Road, Upton

The Committee considered an outline planning application - 6/2019/0401 - for a new development at 4 Poole Road, Upton to be able to demolish the

existing building there and erect a detached apartment block, comprising 9 flats, with details of access being explained in the application but with all other matters reserved.

With the aid of a visual presentation officers explained what the main proposals and planning issues of the development were; how these were to be progressed; and what the benefits of the development entailed; in helping to meet housing needs in that part of Dorset and make best use of an otherwise vacant site. Plans and photographs provided an illustration of the location, dimensions and design of the development, with the presentation also confirming what the highways, traffic management and access arrangements being proposed would be; how the housing would look and its setting; showed the development and landscape; other residential development and civic amenities in Upton and its setting within the town. Moreover, the building was currently unused and the site was therefore vacant.

All other aspects of the planning permission would be assessed in full as part of any following reserved matters application but, in officer's assessment, the:-

- Scale, design and impact on the character and appearance of the area
- Impact upon neighbouring properties
- Drainage issues
- Impact on trees and hedgerows

all appeared to be acceptable in planning terms, subject to appropriate conditions as necessary. The location was considered to be sustainable as it was within the designated settlement boundary and in the officer's assessment, there were no material considerations which could warrant refusal of this application. On the basis that all significant planning matters had been appropriately or adequately addressed. Based on the reasoning for the material considerations, officers were recommending approval subject to conditions.

Of significance was what assessment had been made to meet the developments parking needs, being based on the Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset Residential Car Parking Study (published in 2011), in identifying Upton as in a suburban location of Purbeck and, on the assessments made in that regard, parking provision was considered to be of limited justification. Moreover, the application had been submitted with a transport assessment that detailed the varied public transport options available to future occupiers, including regular buses and well established walking and cycling routes, so reinforcing the justification that prescribed parking allocation was not warranted. Furthermore, the Highways Authority had no objection to the application on road safety grounds and considered there were no relevant policies which would warrant refusal of this application.

However, on this particular issue, Lytchett Minster and Upton Town Council had objected regarding the failure to provide any onsite parking, particularly in view of the extant local parking problems in the immediate area and town centre generally. This view was reinforced by the receipt of 11 objections from neighbouring residents. As the comments from the Town Council were contrary to officer's recommendation, Dorset Councillors had requested that the application be referred to this Committee for determination. Upon careful consideration of all representations received and the planning merits of the application, officer's accorded with that view.

Public speaking

Robin SeQueira was speaking on behalf of St Dunstan's Church and was of the view that allocated parking was a necessity given that in practice households require their own transport as a means to go about their daily lives and given the infrequency of alternative public transport options. This part of Upton was congested as it was and being on a main road did not allow much on street parking. His primary concern was that those residents would see the opportunity to use the readily available church car park in meeting their needs and would cause an inconvenience to those who wished to legitimately use this. He could see no reason why the applicant could not identify some space to accommodate the needs of their occupiers. On that basis he considered the application should be refused.

June Richards reinforced the stance of her Town Council made much the same points in that there was a need to be realistic that those occupying the flats would have access to a car and therefore need a place to park. The absence of this would only lead to further congestion in an area which already suffered to that extent. Moreover, she could foresee that road safety could be compromised by any increase in competition for road space.

Scott Masker - for the applicant - promoted the virtues of the development in meeting an identified housing need in that the site was vacant and sustainable and that the proposals had been deemed to be acceptable by planning officers and that there were no material considerations that could merit the application's refusal. Given that the Council had declared a climate emergency, what was being proposed would wholly accord with that stance. With the conditions to be imposed he saw no reason why the application should not be permitted.

As one of the local members, Bill Pipe spoke on behalf of those of his residents who had submitted objections considering that whilst it was admirable to assume more would be made of public transport and environmental considerations, in practice there would be a need for some dedicated parking provision to meet the needs of occupiers. He considered that area to be somewhat overdeveloped in any event and anything further would only serve to exacerbate the problems already experienced. Any parking which was suggested could take place in laybys was unacceptable as any limited parking would be lost and the church were not obliged to accommodate any overspill parking not associated with its business. On that basis, he considered the application should be refused.

The Committee were then provided with the opportunity to ask questions of the officer's presentation and from invited speakers, with officer's providing clarification in respect of the points raised. Officers confirmed that whilst the issues of parking were of relevance, members were being asked to purely consider the application in front of them. Officers also confirmed that rather than being unable to provide for parking, the applicant had chosen not to. Clarification was provided by the highways officer that whilst parking was emotive and the concern of those objecting were understandable, from a highway's safety perspective, there was no material reason why the application should not be approved.

Another of the local members, Councillor Alex Brenton, expressed her concern at the absence of parking for the occupants of the flats as they would undoubtedly have access to a vehicle and need somewhere to park. Given the absence of any alternative public transport provision, they would have limited means of going about their daily lives. For that reason therefore, she felt that she was unable to support the application as it stood.

Whilst Members recognised what the development was designed to achieve, the concern of the two local members who had spoken, was reinforced by the Committee at the absence of the provision of dedicated parking provision as, in practice, occupiers would generally have access to a vehicle to meet their needs and a space to park was essential. Moreover, any visitors or goods deliveries would likewise have little opportunity to park safely and conveniently. As there was limited public transport options available and congestion was regularly experienced on what was a busy thoroughfare, having no opportunity for dedicated parking as part of the development was considered impractical and would not be a realistic prospect. For that reason, most members came to the view that without that necessary provision, they could not give their support to this application. Had provision been made by the applicant for some means of electric charging to offset the absence of parking, then this may have made the application more acceptable to them.

However, the Vice-Chairman took a different view in that, whilst being frustrated with the parking situation and what the NPPF stipulated as reasons for refusal, the essence of the application was acceptable in planning terms as set out in the Committee report and, on tht basis, should be approved. Any parking consideration could be addressed later under Reserved Matters.

Having had the opportunity to discuss the merits of the application, having understood what was being proposed and the reasoning for this; having taken into account the officer's report, what they had heard at the meeting from the case officer, legal advisor and those invited speakers, particularly the views of the Town Council, the Committee were satisfied in their understanding of what all of this entailed. On being put to the vote the Committee considered that, notwithstanding the assessments made by officers, they could not agree to what was being recommended on the basis that the inadequate and insufficient parking provision being proposed would be detrimental to all that was necessary and was not in accordance with the Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset Residential Car Parking Strategy, in being contrary to Policy IAT of the Purbeck Local Plan Part 1 and, accordingly, the planning application should be refused.

Resolved

That planning application 6/2019/0401 – for a new development at 4 Poole Road, Upton - be refused on the grounds that the proposed development, by

virtue of the lack of adequate parking provision in line with the Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset Residential Car Parking Strategy, would be contrary to Policy IAT of the Purbeck Local Plan Part 1.

Reason for Decision

That the proposed development, by virtue of the lack of adequate parking provision in line with the Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset Residential Car Parking Strategy, would be contrary to Policy IAT of the Purbeck Local Plan Part 1.

40. 3/19/1463/FUL - Development at West Parley First School, Glenmoor Road, West Parley/Ferndown

Consideration was given to application 3/19/1463/FUL for the development at West Parley First School, Glenmoor Road, West Parley near Ferndown of the proposed provision of a new, detached single storey classroom with covered decking area. The Committee were informed of the need for the facility: designed to have sufficient capacity to meet what was required from a first school and to provide the capability of delivering a full educational curriculum which satisfied modern standards and expectations. The classroom was to be constructed of timber and comprise an entrance lobby, a classroom, two offices, a kitchen area and two toilets, of which one was for disabled users, with all being fully accessible. The raised, covered deck would provide an outside learning space.

With the aid of a visual presentation officers explained what the main proposals and planning issues of the development entailed; how these were to be achieved; and particularly, the reasoning for the new facility, which was being proposed as a means of benefitting what the school had to offer.

Plans and photographs provided an illustration of the location, dimensions design and appearance of the classroom; how the enhancements would look and their setting; showed the development's relationship with the characteristics of the other school buildings; and where the school was situated within the town.

The Committee were informed of what consultation had taken place and what responses had been received. No formal objections had been received to this with, in particular, West Parley Parish Council raising no objection to the proposal and the local Ward member for West Parley, Councillor Andrew Parry, supporting it.

Officers considered that the proposal would be of public benefit by creating an additional classroom to meet needs given that:-

• there was not considered to be any significant harm to neighbouring residential amenity.

• there were no adverse landscape impacts.

• there would be no additional traffic movements generated by the development.

• there were no material considerations which could warrant refusal of this application.

As the formal consultation process had not generated any adverse responses or objections, the Committee were now being asked to approve this in accordance with the officer's recommendation and on the grounds that as it was a Council application a committee decision was required for openness and transparency purposes.

The Committee were then provided with the opportunity to ask questions of

The officer's presentation, with officer's providing clarification in respect of the points raised.

Whilst being somewhat rudimentary and functional, the Committee could see the benefits this additional space would bring and the reason it was being proposed. Members considered this type of classroom to be robust and a practical solution in meeting need. However they asked that, if at practicable, any aesthetic enhancement could be made and that, in particular, it should be of an environmentally satisfactory standard, with solar panels being incorporated in the design and build so as to harness what readily available renewable energy was there to use all means necessary in meeting the challenges of climate change and in upholding the Council's stance on this. Officers agreed that an Informative Note could be added to the grant of any permission on the basis of "It is recommended that the applicant considers the opportunities for the installation of solar panels". Members also considered this could be fed into the Council's Executive Advisory Panel on Climate Change.

Some members asked why the classroom was freestanding rather than being attached to the rest of the school. Officers reminded members that this was the scheme they were being asked to approve together with its associated characteristics that on that basis the applicant was proposing the layout to be as prescribed.

Having had the opportunity to discuss the merits of the application, having understood what was being proposed and the reasoning for this; having taken into account the officer's report and what they had heard at the meeting,

the Committee were satisfied in their understanding of what the proposal was designed to address and, on that basis – and on being put to the vote – the Committee considered that the application should be approved, subject to the conditions set out in the officer's report

Resolved

That planning application 3/19/1463/FUL for the development at West Parley First School, Glenmoor Road, West Parley near Ferndown be agreed, subject to the conditions set out in paragraph 12 of the officer's report and to include the following Informative Note:-

"It is recommended that the applicant considers the opportunities for the installation of solar panels".

Reasons for Decision

As set out in paragraph 8.16 of the officer's report and to meet the needs of the Children's Services Directorate.

41. Planning Appeal Decisions

Members considered a written report setting out details of planning appeal decisions made and the reasoning for this and took the opportunity to ask what questions they had.

42. Urgent items

There were no items of urgent business.

Duration of meeting: 10.00 am - 12.00 pm

Chairman

.....